

# The cost efficiency of German banks: a comparison of SFA and DEA

# Elisabetta Fiorentino

(University of Dresden and Deutsche Bundesbank)

# Alexander Karmann

(University of Dresden)

# Michael Koetter

(University of Groningen and Deutsche Bundesbank)

Discussion Paper Series 2: Banking and Financial Studies No 10/2006

Discussion Papers represent the authors' personal opinions and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Deutsche Bundesbank or its staff.

**Editorial Board:** 

Heinz Herrmann Thilo Liebig Karl-Heinz Tödter

Deutsche Bundesbank, Wilhelm-Epstein-Strasse 14, 60431 Frankfurt am Main, Postfach 10 06 02, 60006 Frankfurt am Main

Tel +49 69 9566-1 Telex within Germany 41227, telex from abroad 414431, fax +49 69 5601071

Please address all orders in writing to: Deutsche Bundesbank, Press and Public Relations Division, at the above address or via fax +49 69 9566-3077

Reproduction permitted only if source is stated.

ISBN 3-86558-218-4 (Printversion) ISBN 3-86558-219-2 (Internetversion)

### Abstract

We investigate the consistency of efficiency scores derived with two competing frontier methods in the financial economics literature: Stochastic Frontier and Data Envelopment Analysis. We sample 34,192 observations for all German universal banks and analyze whether efficiency measures yield consistent results according to five criteria between 1993 and 2004: levels, rankings, identification of extreme performers, stability over time and correlation to standard accounting-based measures of performance. We find that non-parametric methods are particularly sensitive to measurement error and outliers. Furthermore, our results show that accounting for systematic differences among commercial, cooperative and savings banks is important to avoid misinterpretation about the status of efficiency of the total banking sector. Finally, despite ongoing fundamental changes in Europe's largest banking system, efficiency rank stability is very high in the short run. However, we also find that annually estimated efficiency scores are markedly less stable over a period of twelve years, in particular for parametric methods. Thus, the implicit assumption of serial independence of bank production in most methods has an important influence on obtained efficiency rankings.

**Keywords:** Cost Efficiency, Banks, Stochastic Frontier Approach, Data Envelopment Analysis

JEL: D24, G21, L25

### Non-technical summary

To measure the cost efficiency of banks, one should compare observed cost- and output-factor combinations with optimal combinations determined by the available technology (efficient frontier). The method to implement this analysis could be either stochastic or deterministic. The former allows random noise due to measurement errors. The latter, on the contrary, attributes the distance between an inefficient observed bank and the efficient frontier entirely to inefficiency. A further distinction is made between parametric or non-parametric approaches. A parametric approach uses econometric techniques and imposes a priori the functional form for the frontier and the distribution of efficiency. A non-parametric approach, on the contrary, relies on linear programming to obtain a benchmark of optimal costand production-factor combinations.

The most popular methods are Stochastic Frontier Analysis (SFA), which is stochastic and parametric, and Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA), which is deterministic and non-parametric. This study analyses on the basis of five criteria to what extent SFA and DEA yield consistent cost efficiency (CE) measures when applied to the same dataset. In particular, we check to what extent they provide different efficiency scores when stratifying the sample according to year, banking group or both dimensions simultaneously.

Our results show very low consistency between SFA and DEA measures, especially when applied to the entire panel sample. First, mean CE according to SFA is substantially higher compared to DEA. This difference becomes smaller when stratifying the sample according to year, banking group or both dimensions simultaneously, since DEA scores improve considerably. Hence, non-parametric methods are much more sensitive to sample heterogeneity. An outlier analysis confirms this result: already after the elimination of only 24 observations mean DEA efficiency increases from 13% to 37%. In turn, SFA results are hardly affected by this exclusion. Second, the identification of efficient or inefficient banks is congruent to a very limited extent only. Rank-order correlation is positive but low. This result is confirmed by little correlation of rankings in the highest and the lowest efficiency quantile across methods, respectively. Third, the stability of efficiency rankings over time is according to both methods quite high, especially in the short run. Even after a time span of up to twelve years, rank order correlations are still fairly high, especially for non-parametric measurement. Consequently, only few banks seem to drastically change their position relative to the majority of competitors. Efficiency rankings are the least stable when measuring efficiency separately per year, especially for parametric methods. Thus, the implicit assumption when using cross-sectional estimators that a bank's production is independent over time is problematic. Finally, our results confirm earlier evidence that efficiency measures are only weakly correlated with more traditional performance indicators, like cost-income and, especially, return ratios. Apparently, efficiency measures contain additional information and should therefore be considered, too, when assessing the success of a bank.

#### Nichttechnische Zusammenfassung

Bei einer Kosteneffizienzanalyse von Banken werden die beobachteten Kombinationen von Inputpreisen und Outputmengen mit den durch die Technologie beschriebenen Transformationsmöglichkeiten verglichen. Man unterscheidet dabei stochastische und deterministische Methoden. Bei stochastischen Methoden hängen die Abweichungen von der Effizienzgrenze sowohl von der Ineffizienz der Bank als auch von Zufallseinflüssen ab. Bei deterministischen Methoden hängen die Abweichungen ausschließlich von der Ineffizienz ab. Eine weitere Unterscheidung ist jene zwischen parametrischen und nichtparametrischen Methoden. Bei parametrischen Methoden werden a priori Annahmen zur funktionalen Form und zur Verteilung der Effizienz festgelegt. Nichtparametrische Methoden legen hingegen keine funktionale Form fest und nutzen lineare Programmierung, um die Abweichungen zu optimalen Kosten- und Faktorkombinationen zu ermitteln.

Die beiden am häufigsten verwendeten Methoden sind der deterministische und nichtparametrische Ansatz Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) sowie der stochastische und parametrische Ansatz Stochastic Frontier Analysis (SFA). Die vorliegende Studie untersucht anhand von fünf Kriterien, ob beide Ansätze zu konsistenten Kosteneffizienzmaßen führen. Es wird insbesondere überprüft, inwieweit sich die Effizienzmaße unterscheiden, wenn das gesamte Panel nach Jahren, Bankengruppen oder beiden Kriterien gleichzeitig geschichtet wird.

Die Ergebnisse zeigen niedrige Konsistenz zwischen den zwei Methoden, insbesondere wenn das Gesamtpanel ungeschichtet betrachtet wird. Erstens sind die Effizienzmaße im Mittel deutlich höher bei SFA als bei DEA. Dieser Unterschied wird kleiner, wenn die zu Grunde liegende Stichprobe nach Jahren, Bankengruppen oder beiden Kriterien gleichzeitig geschichtet wird. Dann steigen die DEA-Effizienzzahlen deutlich. Die DEA reagiert sensitiver auf zunehmend heterogene Stichproben, was auch durch die Ergebnisse nach der Bereinigung von extremen Kosten- und Faktorkombinationen bestätigt wird. Bereits der Ausschluß von lediglich 24 Ausreißern bewirkt einen Anstieg der DEA-Effizienz von 13% auf 37%, während die SFA-Maße kaum beeinflußt werden. Zweitens identifizieren beide Ansätze nur bedingt dieselben Institute als besonders effizient oder ineffizient. Die Rangfolgen aus beiden Ansätzen sind schwach korreliert und nur bei einer Schichtung nach Bankengruppe und Jahr einigermaßen stark ausgeprägt. Auch die Untersuchung der niedrigsten und höchsten Effizienzquantile bestätigt die eher geringe Übereinstimmung zwischen den Methoden. Drittens führen beide Ansätze für einen Zeitraum von etwa fünf Jahren zu stabilen Rangfolgen über die Zeit. Selbst über einen Zeitraum von 12 Jahren sind die Korrelationen von Rangfolgen noch relativ groß, insbesondere bei der DEA. Nur wenige Institute entwickeln sich also über die Zeit stark unterschiedlich relativ zur Mehrheit der Banken. Mittel- und langfristige Rangfolgen sind dann am instabilsten, wenn die Schätzung je Jahr erfolgt. Die implizite Annahme zeitlicher Unabhängigkeit von Produktionsplänen bei der Ermittlung von Bankkostenfunktionen mit Querschnittsschätzern scheint somit problematisch. Schließlich bestätigen unsere Ergebnisse frühere Evidenz, dass Effizienzmaße und traditionelle Indexzahlen, wie Kosten- und vor allem Ertragskennziffern, unterschiedliche Informationen enthalten. Geringe Korrelationskoeffizienten zwischen DEA- und SFA-Maßen mit traditionellen Indikatoren sind ein Indiz dafür, dass Effizienzmaße hinzugezogen werden sollten, wenn die Leistungsfähigkeit einer Bank beurteilt wird.

# Contents

1	Introduction 1									
<b>2</b>	2 Related Literature									
3	Effi	ciency: Concepts and Measurement	4							
	3.1	Concepts	4							
	3.2	Data Envelopment Analysis	5							
	3.3	Stochastic Frontier Analysis	7							
4	Dat	a and Variables	8							
<b>5</b>	Results									
	5.1	Efficiency Distributions	10							
	5.2	Efficiency Rankings	12							
	5.3	Identification of Extreme Performers	13							
	5.4	Stability Over Time	14							
	5.5	Efficiency and Accounting-based Performance Measures	16							
6	Cor	nclusion	17							

# The Cost Efficiency of German Banks: A Comparison of SFA and DEA<sup>1</sup>

### 1 Introduction

Financial institutions around the world experienced substantial changes in the last 15 years (OECD, 2000). Technological progress, reduced information costs, fiercer competition among both bank and non-bank financial intermediaries and ongoing deregulation in the wake of the creation of a Single European Market for financial services all led to substantial changes in numerous financial systems.

As pointed out by the European Central Bank (2005), the largest European banking market, Germany, exhibits some of the most marked changes in terms of both market structure and performance. In a consolidating market environment, banks continue their efforts to cope with new competitive challenges by improving the efficiency of their operations.

To assess banks' ability to increase efficiency, both regulators and practitioners rely increasingly on economic theory to measure the efficiency of banks and compare institutes with each other. Given the importance of efficiency measures as a tool for policy makers and markets participants the early remark of Bauer et al. (1998) is disturbing: efficiency scores vary considerably across studies.

Only few banking studies in general and even less of those examining the German banking system, investigate the reasons for these differences more profoundly.<sup>2</sup> In this paper, we therefore follow the suggestion of Bauer et al. (1998) and expose an identical data set of commercial, savings and cooperative banks to the two major alternative methodologies encountered in the literature: Stochastic Frontier Analysis (SFA) on the one hand and Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) on the other.

While it is not necessary to achieve consensus on the best frontier approach for efficiency analysis, it is of crucial importance to be aware of potentially conflicting information the two methods may provide. By using multiple techniques, especially parametric versus non-parametric techniques, the robustness of results can be put into perspective. Charnes et al. (1978) refer to this approach as methodological cross-checking and we check the consistency of efficiency measures according to five criteria of Bauer et al. (1998): efficiency levels, efficiency rankings, the identification of extreme performers, time consistency and consistent correlations with traditionally employed accounting indicators.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 reviews the related Literature. Section 3 introduces the empirical and linear programming methods used here. Section 4 describes the data. We discuss our findings in section 5 and conclude in section 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Elisabetta.Fiorentino@mailbox.tu-dresden.de (E. Fiorentino), gkw@mailbox.tu-dresden.de (A. Karmann) and m.koetter@rug.nl (M. Koetter). This paper represents the authors' personal opinions and not necessarily those of the Deutsche Bundesbank. We are grateful for the provision of data. Comments received at the Seminar Series of the Economic Research Centre of the Deutsche Bundesbank are highly appreciated, in particular we would like to thank Hannah Hempell.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ An exception is Bos et al. (2005), who discuss the stability of efficiency according to SFA.

## 2 Related Literature

Bank efficiency studies are fairly abundant by now. But only a few apply two or more techniques to an identical data set, especially European data (Weill, 2004). Studies that compare parametric and non-parametric techniques are Ferrier and Lovell (1990), Sheldon (1994), Resti (1997), Bauer et al. (1998), Casu and Girardone (2002), Weill (2004) and Beccalli et al.  $(2006)^3$ . We briefly examine some of the evidence provided by these comparisons here. We report, in particular, the results which concern our five consistency checks.

An early study that compares alternative frontier techniques is Ferrier and Lovell (1990). They analyze the cost structure of 575 US banks for the year 1984 using both the SFA and DEA methodologies. They find higher efficiency scores with DEA compared to SFA, namely 80% and 74%, respectively. They conclude that DEA is sufficiently flexible to envelop the data more closely than the translog cost frontier. However, efficiency scores are not significantly correlated thus indicating that other factors not controlled for may drive the obtained wedge between the two measures. European evidence is provided by Sheldon (1994). He analyzes the cost efficiency of Swiss banks with SFA and DEA in the period from 1987 to 1991. While results from DEA indicate that the average degree of cost efficiency is about 56%, SFA yields only 3.9% mean efficiency. This substantial deviation from usually obtained magnitudes of around 80% obtained for US and European studies casts some doubt as to an appropriate specification of the cost function (Amel et al., 2004). Likewise, he reports insignificant rank-order correlation of 1%, indicating that no relationship exists between the two groups of efficiency scores. These results that two alternative methods to implement an identical theoretical cost minimization problem should not be correlated are remarkable.

And, in fact, Resti (1997) provides very different results. He analyzes the cost efficiency of 270 Italian banks over the period 1988-1992. He compares the parametric and non parametric efficiency scores and finds that econometric and linear programming results do not differ substantially. Moreover, contrary to Ferrier and Lovell (1990) and Sheldon (1994), he reports higher efficiency scores between 81% and 92% for SFA as opposed to DEA scores between 60% and 78%. Rank correlation between SFA and DEA is statistically significant at the 1% level and ranges from 44% to 58%. The rank ordering of firm specific inefficiency is strongly correlated over time, although it is more persistent with DEA than with SFA.

The Bauer et al. (1998) study is among all the most significant, given the application of four approaches SFA, DEA, Thick Frontier Analysis (TFA) and Distribution Free Analysis (DFA) on a data set of 683 US banks over the period 1977-1988.<sup>4</sup> They suggest six consistency conditions to analyze the robustness of frontier efficiency measures. They compare the efficiency distributions, the rank order correlation of the efficiency distributions, the correspondence of best-practice and worst-practice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Studies, that compare parametric techniques include Bauer et al. (1993), Allen and Rai (1996), Hasan and Hunter (1996), Berger and Mester (1997) and Berger and Hannan (1998). Their results differ with regard to the efficiency scores and the rank correlations between techniques.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>TFA (Berger and Humphrey, 1991) employs only the best performers defined as those in the lowest average cost quartile for their size class. DFA (Berger, 1993) assumes only a constant core inefficiency that persists over time but imposes no further distributional assumptions on efficiency.

banks across techniques, the stability of measured efficiency over time, the consistency of efficiency with market competitive conditions and the consistency with standard non-frontier performance measures. For each approach they calculate a measure of single year efficiency and a measure of total years efficiency based on one set of banks over the entire time period. Mean efficiency of parametric techniques averages 83% while mean efficiency for the nonparametric approaches is only around 30%. Nonparametric and parametric techniques give only very weak consistency ranking with each other: rank-order correlation is 10%. All the methods are stable over time although DEA generally shows slightly better stability than the parametric methods. On the other hand, the parametric efficiency scores are generally consistent with the standard performance measures, while DEA efficiency scores are much less so. In sum, Bauer et al. (1998) conclude that there is no single correct approach to specify an efficient frontier. Instead, both measures seem to react to varying degrees to particularities of the data. Thus, reporting methodological cross-checks are important to ensure that policy makers are aware of the different information contained in efficiency measures derived with alternative methods.

In a more recent study, Casu and Girardone (2002) evaluates the cost characteristics, profit efficiency and productivity change of Italian financial conglomerates during the 1990s using SFA, DFA and DEA. Efficiency measures from stochastic and deterministic frontiers are reasonably similar in magnitude and also show similar variation in efficiency levels.<sup>5</sup> Despite these similarities in range and variance of the efficiency score, the trend in the DEA cost efficiency is increasing between 1996 and 1998 and shows a rather sharp decrease in 1999. In turn, SFA estimates exhibit a steady improvement in cost efficiency. Not surprisingly, DFA efficiency estimates are consistent with the DEA scores rather than with the SFA and display a decreasing trend of efficiency. Weill (2004) also checks the robustness of SFA, DFA and DEA. He measures the cost efficiency of 688 banks from five European countries (France, Italy, Germany, Spain, and Switzerland) over the period from 1992 to 1998. He compares mean efficiencies, correlation coefficients between methodologies and the correlation with standard measures of performance. Efficiency scores do not differ substantially across techniques and are positively correlated between SFA and DFA. At the same time, there is no positive relationship between any parametric approach and DEA. All approaches provide efficiency scores that are correlated with standard measures of performance. Beccalli et al. (2006) measure cost efficiency of stock-market listed European banks in 1999 and 2000. They investigate the link between efficiency measures and the market performance of financial institutions by means of SFA and DEA and find that percentage changes in stock prices reflect percentage changes in cost efficiency, particularly those derived from DEA. Furthermore, SFA efficiency scores are slightly higher than DEA scores, namely 85% versus  $83\%^6$  and DEA efficiency scores are more dispersed compared to SFA.

In sum, more recent studies find that SFA efficiency scores are generally higher compared to DEA scores. This may reflect the different treatment of stochastic noise and the ability to control for heterogeneity. At the same time, studies that investigate the differences across methods more systematically show that efficiency measures differ not only in terms of mean industry efficiency. Efficiency rankings, their stability over time and the consistency with traditionally employed performance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Standard deviations are around 10%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Input- versus output-oriented DEA model yield virtually identical results.

measures contain important additional information for policy making purposes. Finally, it is noteworthy that with the exception of Bauer et al. (1998), none of these cross-checking exercises quantifies differences for a banking system as a whole but focus on distinct time intervals and/ or particular groups of banks in the system, such as large, stock-listed institutes. In fact, smaller samples that compare only a fraction of the market may even underestimate the differences of DEA and SFA measures since they are likely to sample already more akin banks. Let us therefore turn next to our comparison of DEA and SFA for the German banking industry as a whole.

### **3** Efficiency: Concepts and Measurement

#### 3.1 Concepts

Farrell (1957) laid the foundation to measure efficiency and productivity studies at the micro level. His contribution highlighted new insights on two issues: how to define efficiency and productivity, and how to calculate the benchmark technology and efficiency measures. The fundamental assumption is to depart from the assumption of perfect input-output allocation but to allow for inefficient operations. Inefficiency is defined as the distance of a firm from a frontier production function accepted as the benchmark.<sup>7</sup> The basis for this measure is the radial contraction/expansion connecting inefficient observed points with (unobserved) reference points on the production frontier. If a firm's actual production point lies on the frontier it is perfectly efficient. If it lies below the frontier then it is inefficient, with the ratio of the actual to potential production defining the level of efficiency of the individual firm (Decision Making Unit, DMU). Farell proposed efficiency consists of two components: technical efficiency and allocative efficiency. The former reflects the ability of a DMU to minimize input use as to produce a given amount of output. The latter reflects the ability of a DMU to use inputs in optimal proportions, given their respective prices and the production technology. Together, these two measures represent a total efficiency measure (Coelli et al., 1997). Efficiency ratios take on a value between zero and one, where one indicates that the DMU is fully efficient. For example, an efficiency score measured against a cost frontier of 90% signifies that the DMU could have reduced costs by 10% without altering it's output vector.

The estimation of efficiency can be categorized according to the assumptions and techniques used to construct the efficient frontier. On the one hand, parametric methods *estimate* the frontier with statistical methods. On the other hand, nonparametric methods rely on linear programming to *calculate* piecewise linear segments of the efficient frontier. Parametric methods impose an explicit functional form for both the frontier and deviations from it, that is inefficiency. Nonparametric methods, in contrast, do neither impose any assumptions about functional form of the frontier nor any distributional assumptions about inefficiency. This entirely deterministic construction of the frontier attributes the entire difference between an inefficient observed DMU and an efficient reference DMU on the frontier exclusively

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This concept was opposed to a notion of average performance underlying most of the econometric literature on the production function up to the time of Farrell's paper.

to inefficiency. Estimation of the frontier, in turn, allow for random noise in the analysis. This involves the estimation of a stochastic frontier. Thus, in the context of a production function, the output of a firm is a function of inputs subject to a production technology and inefficiency arising in the employment of that technology. Non-parametric methods, in turn, also allows random error in observed input-output combinations.

#### 3.2 Data Envelopment Analysis

Consider first Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA). It was introduced by Charnes et al. (1978), CCR henceforth for short. They developed the piece-wise-linear convex hull approach to frontier estimation proposed by Farrell (1957) in a model which has an input orientation and assumes constant return to scale, in the following CCR model. Subsequent papers have considered alternative sets of assumptions, such as variable return to scale (VRS) and output orientation (Banker et al., 1984). The originally suggested input oriented CCR is formulated as:

$$\min_{\lambda} \theta$$
st  $-y_o + Y\lambda \ge 0,$   
 $\theta x_o - X\lambda \ge 0,$   
 $\lambda \ge 0,$ 
(1)

where  $\theta$  is a scalar,  $\lambda$  is a N\*1 vector of constants,  $y_o$  is an output vector for a DMUo, Y is the matrix of outputs of the other DMUs and the number of DMUs ranges in j = 1...n,  $x_o$  is the vector of input of DMUo and X is the matrix of input of the other DMUs. The value of  $\theta$  obtained will be the efficiency score for the o-th DMU where  $0 \leq \theta \leq 1$ . In case  $\theta$  has value equal to 1 the DMU lies on the frontier and is fully efficient. Essentially, the optimization procedure takes the o-th DMU and then seeks to radially contract the input vector,  $x_o$ , as much as possible while still remaining within the feasible input set. The radial contraction of the vector  $x_o$  produces a projection point  $(X\lambda, Y\lambda)$  on the efficient frontier and the constraints ensure that this projection belongs to the feasible set (Coelli et al., 1997). DEA generates the efficiency frontier as a linear combination of the efficient observed data instead of assuming an explicit functional form a priori. The difference between the vector  $x_o$  and the projection point  $(X\lambda, Y\lambda)$  measures inefficiency.

The original CCR model assumes constant return to scale (CRS), an inappropriate assumption for most banking studies in general and particularly inappropriate for Germany's heterogenous three-pillar banking system (Hackethal, 2004). It is therefore reasonable to adopt variable return to scale (VRS), which ensures that a firm is compared only with firms of a similar size. This implies to add a constraint  $N1\lambda = 1$  to the CCR problem, where N1 is a N\*1 vector of ones. The model with VRS creates the frontier as a convex hull of intersecting planes in contrast to the model with CRS, which forms a conical hull. The VRS model thus envelops the data more tightly and provides efficiency scores that are equal or greater than those of the CRS model (Banker et al., 1984). The CCR model focuses on the technical-physical aspects of production. It is appropriate if behavioral assumptions of firms' objectives like cost minimization or profit maximization cannot be made. Alternatively, the model may prove useful if unit price and unit cost information are either unavailable or of questionable quality due, for example, to substantial measurement error. If economic objective functions are reasonable and if reliable price information is available, however, DEA can also be used to identify allocative efficiency (Cooper et al., 2000). Since we assume indeed that banks minimize cost in Germany, we consider in this paper input oriented efficiency with variable return to scale.<sup>8</sup> We write the according cost model as:

$$\min \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_{io} x_{io}$$

$$st \qquad x_{io} \ge \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_{ij} \lambda_j, (i = 1, ..., m)$$

$$y_{ro} \le \sum_{j=1}^{n} y_{rj} \lambda_j, (r = 1, ..., s)$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j = 1,$$

$$\lambda_j \ge 0 \forall j,$$
(2)

where j = 1, ..., n are the number of bank, i = 1, ..., m are input volumes used by bank j, r = 1, ..., s measures the volume of output r and  $c_{io}$  is the unit cost of the input i of bank  $DMU_o$  which is the benchmark projection that can be different from one bank to another. The minimization problem is calculated for each bank of the sample, thus identifying for each a benchmark combination of inputs and cost. Every DEA model assumes a returns-to-scale characteristics that is represented by the ranges of the sum of the intensity vector  $\lambda$ , i.e.,  $L \leq \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + ... + \lambda_n \leq U$ . Here we compute variable returns to scale and use L = U = 1, i.e. we consider convex hull representation. Our model allows substitutions in inputs. Based on an optimal solution  $(x^*, \lambda^*)$  of the above problem, the cost efficiency of  $DMU_o$  is defined as

$$CE_o = \frac{c_o x^*}{c_o x_o},\tag{3}$$

where  $CE_o$  is the ratio of minimum cost to observed cost for the *o*th firm. Clearly, this approach implies that all observed input-cost combinations are measured with no error. Outliers may be classified as very efficient simply because data error

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In fact, one may argue that both banking groups do not follow strict profit maximization. For example, savings banks mention as an objective to promote saving and capital accumulation and the funding of public tasks. Likewise, cooperatives aim to promote the acquisition and business activities of the members. While banks may be consciously willing to forego profit margins, we argue here that cost minimization is a necessary condition for any bank since no competitor can offer similar products at higher cost in the long run.

implies no comparison unit for these institutes or they may simply be unique. Since this hypothetical bank co-determines the frontier relative to which all other peers are evaluated, mean efficiency may be low as the majority of banks are located far above this benchmark. If we assume that measurement errors occur randomly, a stochastic approach can alleviate the problem.

#### **3.3** Stochastic Frontier Analysis

Aigner et al. (1977), Battese and Corra (1977), Meeusen and Van den Broek (1977) independently proposed to estimate a stochastic production frontier. The model is denoted in logs as  $ln(y_j) = lnx_j\beta + v_j - u_j$ , where  $x_j$  denotes an input vector for firm  $j, v_j$  depicts random error added to the non-negative inefficiency term,  $u_j$ . Random error,  $v_j$ , accounts for measurement error and other random factors affecting the value of the output variable, together with the combined effects of unspecified input variables in the production function. The model is stochastic because the upper limit is determined by the stochastic variable  $exp(x_j\beta + v_j)$ . The random error,  $v_j$ , can be positive or negative and so the stochastic frontier outputs vary relative to the deterministic part of the frontier model,  $exp(x_j\beta)$  (Coelli et al., 1997).

To estimate the stochastic frontier model, we need to assume a functional form. Since banking is a multi-output industry, specification of a production function is not feasible. Moreover, behavioral assumptions such as cost minimization are appropriate for banks and thus we follow the consensus in the literature and use duality to specify a cost frontier.<sup>9</sup> The stochastic cost frontier has the following general log form  $lnC_j = f(lny_{r,j}, lnc_{i,j}) + \varepsilon_j$ . Here,  $C_j$  is total cost for firm  $j, y_{r,j}$ measures the *r*-th output of firm j, and  $c_{i,j}$  is the price of the *i*-th input of firm j. The error term,  $\varepsilon_j$  is composed of the two components  $v_j$  and  $u_j$  as  $v_j + u_j$ . The random error term  $v_j$  is assumed *iid* with  $v_j \sim N(0, \sigma_v^2)$  and independent of the explanatory variables. The inefficiency term is *iid* with  $u_j \sim N|(0, \sigma_u^2)|$  and independent of the  $v_j$ . It is drawn from a non-negative distribution truncated at zero.<sup>10</sup> We specify a multi-product translog cost function and estimate:

$$lnC_{j} = \alpha_{0} + \sum_{rj} \beta_{r} lny_{rj} + \sum_{ij} \beta_{i} lnc_{ij} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \sum_{k} \beta_{ik} lny_{ij} lny_{kj} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \sum_{z} \beta_{iz} lnc_{ij} lnc_{zj} + \sum_{r} \sum_{i} \beta_{i} lny_{r} lnc_{i} + v_{j} + u_{j}$$
(4)

where C is total operating cost,  $y_r, r = 1, ..., 3$  are outputs,  $c_i, i = 1, ..., 3$  are input prices and  $\alpha_0$  is an intercept accounting for all other cost determinants. Since inefficiency leads to higher than optimal costs, note that the inefficiency term  $u_j$  is added. We define banking in- and outputs in line with the intermediation approach and describe our data in section 4. The use of duality implies the necessity to impose the following homogeneity restrictions:

 $<sup>^9 \</sup>mathrm{See}$  for example Beattie and Taylor (1985) for the use of duality between production maximization and cost minimization problems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>This assumes that the majority of banks is close to full efficiency.

$$\sum_{r} \beta_{r} = 1, \sum_{i,z} \beta_{iz} = 0, \sum_{i} \beta_{i} = 0.$$
(5)

As in Lang and Welzel (1996), we therefore normalize total costs and input prices by the price of labor. We estimate firm-specific efficiency scores as the conditional expectation of  $u_j$  given  $\varepsilon_j$  (Jondrow et al., 1982). Efficiency measures are calculated as  $expE[-u|\varepsilon]$  and take on values between 0 and 1, where the latter indicates a fully efficient bank. The value indicates the percentage of observed costs that would have been sufficient to produce the observed output if the bank was fully efficient.

Clearly, the ability of this approach to account for previously described measurement error through v comes at a cost. Identification of the two different total error components u and v requires, first, the distributional assumptions outlined above and, second a re-parametrization during maximum-likelihood estimation (MLE). We first estimate equation (4) with OLS and use slope parameters as starting values in the MLE. In line with Aigner et al. (1977), we employ a re-parametrization of  $\sigma = \sqrt{(\sigma_u^2 + \sigma_v^2)}$  and  $\lambda = \sigma_u/\sigma_v$ . A useful implication is that  $\lambda$  provides an opportunity to test the validity of imposed assumptions. It indicates the ratio of standard deviation attributable to inefficiency relative to the standard deviation due to random noise. An insignificant estimate of  $\lambda$  means that no inefficiency prevails. Clearly, as  $\lambda \to 0$ ,  $\sigma_u^2$  goes to zero or  $\sigma_v^2$  goes to infinity. Hence, no inefficiency exists or all deviations are due to random noise. Likewise, for  $\lambda \to \infty$  we note that  $\sigma_u^2 \to \infty$  or  $\sigma_v^2 \to 0$ , which implies that all deviation are explained by inefficiency. Then, inefficiency is 'deterministic' and resembles approaches excluding random noise, such as DEA.

#### 4 Data and Variables

We obtained data from the Deutsche Bundesbank on balance sheets and profit and loss accounts that were reported between 1993 and 2004.<sup>11</sup> To define input and output items we follow the intermediation approach of Sealey and Lindley (1977): The primary function of banks is to channel financial funds from savers to investors. To provide output  $y_r$ , banks demand input quantities  $x_i$  at given prices  $c_i$  that minimize total operating costs C.

In line with the literature we define three input and output categories. Input quantities are fixed assets  $x_1$ , such as branches and administrative buildings; labor  $x_2$ , measured as full-time equivalents (FTE); and borrowed funds  $x_3$ , measured as the volume of deposits and bonds. Input prices  $c_i$  are derived per bank as depreciation relative to fixed assets, personnel expenses relative to FTE and interest expenses relative to total borrowed funds, respectively. As outputs we define the volume of interbank and customer loans,  $y_1$  and  $y_2$ , on the one hand and investment in stocks and bonds,  $y_3$ , on the other.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>All data had been taken in current values as reported in the Deutsche Bundesbank Statistics. A detailed description of individual position can be obtained from the according reporting forms, available at http://www.bundesbank.de/meldewesen.

Variables			Comm'cial	Sav	rings	Coope	eratives	Total
				Central	Regional	Central	Regional	
Interbank loans	$y_1$	Mean	2,100	34,900	132	27,000	31	382
		SD	11,100	30,400	257	22,100	98	$4,\!440$
Commercial loans	$y_2$	Mean	$4,\!380$	35,300	891	11,100	144	757
		SD	23,400	27,300	1,400	11,300	366	6,920
Securities	$y_3$	Mean	2,020	20,200	392	16,400	52	365
		SD	12,500	19,200	526	19,000	147	$3,\!900$
Fixed assets	$x_1$	Mean	36	151	23	108	4	11
	_	SD	159	169	30	129	8	48
Employees	$x_2$	Mean	965	2,875	397	2,074	68	211
1 0	-	SD	4,283	2,352	460	1,795	107	1,195
Borrowed funds	$x_3$	Mean	8,370	88,500	1,390	54,600	223	1,480
	0	SD	46,500	72,700	2,010	$51,\!300$	546	14,800
Price of fixed assets	$c_1$	Mean	122.8	30.3	16.3	23.9	15.7	23.2
	-	SD	1,761.6	35.1	12.9	9.9	105.8	469.4
Price of labor	$c_2$	Mean	83.1	74.2	48.2	67.1	49.3	51.5
	-	SD	429.3	20.5	220.7	14.7	22.8	151.3
Price of funds	$c_3$	Mean	7.58	5.05	3.77	4.34	3.63	3.94
	0	SD	97.6	1.1	0.8	1.0	0.8	25.5
Total operating cost	C	Mean	471	4,780	84	2,620	14	84
· 0		SD	2,400	3,790	120	2,350	30	767
Observations	Ν	1.	2,331	156	6,941	39	24,725	34,192

Table 1: Cost and production variables by banking group between 1993 and 2004

Notes: All variables measured in millions of  $\in$  except  $x_2$  (in FTE),

 $c_2$  (in thousands of  $\in$ ) and  $c_3$  (percentage points).

As pointed out by Hackethal (2004), German banking is quite heterogeneous. The data in table 1 illustrates this vividly as mean sizes in both the input and output dimensions vary considerably across banking groups. To underline this heterogeneity we standardize the cost and production variables of saving and cooperative banks by the mean of commercial banks. The results are shown in table 2. These statistics underpin not only the differences prevailing between the three pillars but also the differences apparently existing within each sector between regional banks on the one hand and nationally active ones on the other. For example, regional saving banks use only half of the input in comparison to commercial banks, and regional cooperatives use even less. The output quantities seem to follow the same trend: Commercial banks produce almost five times more than saving banks and ten times more than cooperative banks.

These simple summary statistics might cast doubt on whether we could possibly compare such different institutes as, for example, large commercial banks and small regional cooperative banks. Since we are in this study first and foremost interested in the stability of efficiency measures across methodologies, we choose to compare all banks to a common frontier as to obtain a holistic picture of the relative performance in the industry as a whole. Given that all banks ultimately compete with one another, we measure their respective performance here against a common benchmark. In fact, we are exactly interested to learn how well (or not) each method can fit a shared envelope to this banking industry where, after all, consumers applying for a loan consider all banks an option.

Variables		Comm.	Savings-C.	Savings-R.	Coop-C.	Coop-R.
Interbank loans	y1	1.00	16.62	0.06	12.86	0.01
Commercial loans	y2	1.00	8.06	0.20	2.53	0.03
Securities	y3	1.00	10.00	0.19	8.12	0.03
Fixed assets	$\mathbf{x1}$	1.00	4.19	0.64	3.00	0.11
Employees	$\mathbf{x}2$	1.00	2.98	0.41	2.15	0.07
Borrowed funds	$\mathbf{x3}$	1.00	10.57	0.17	6.52	0.03
Price of fixed assets	c1	1.00	0.25	0.13	0.19	0.13
Price of labor	c2	1.00	0.89	0.58	0.81	0.59
Price of funds	c3	1.00	0.67	0.50	0.57	0.48
Total operating cost	$\mathbf{C}$	1.00	10.15	0.18	5.56	0.03
Bank year observations	Ν	2,331	156	6,941	39	24,725

Table 2: Standardization of Cost and Production Variables by Commercial Banks

### 5 Results

In the vein of Bauer et al. (1998), we test the robustness of cost efficiency measures from SFA and DEA with five consistency checks. The efficiency estimates should be consistent regarding levels, rankings, the identification of best and worst banks, the stability over time and the relation to non-frontier measures of performance.

We hypothesize that especially two characteristics affect SFA and DEA results: bank's business focus as exhibited by different banking group membership (Bos et al., 2005) and developments over time that affected Germany's banking pillars differently (Hackethal, 2004). Therefore we expand the suggestion of Bauer et al. (1998) and estimate frontiers not only for annual and pooled samples. Additionally, we stratify our sample according to banking groups. This results in four samples exposed to SFA and DEA, respectively: (i) pooled over 12 years and three pillars; (ii) pooled banking groups per year; (iii) separate banking group frontiers pooled over all years; and (iv) banking-group specific frontiers per year. Clearly, if these two characteristics affect SFA and DEA efficiency scores the most, we expect for the last sample the least differences between both measures.

#### 5.1 Efficiency Distributions

A number of distributional characteristic of the efficiency scores generated by the parametrical and non-parametrical methodologies are reported in table 3.

Across all four different samples, mean efficiency according to SFA is 84% while mean efficiency averaged only 55% for DEA. The most striking result from table 3 is, however, not the absolute difference between DEA and SFA efficiency measures, which may only partly be traced back to the additional degrees of freedom from interaction terms and the intercept in the SFA specification. Instead, either methods reacts markedly different when increasing the homogeneity of the sample. While SFA mean efficiency increases by a mere 7 percentage points, minimizing differences across banking groups and time leads to a substantial increase in DEA scores from as low as 13% to 85% in the most stratified sample. The inconsistency between parametric and nonparametric efficiency measures that do not account for these factors is further illustrated by standard deviations, skew and kurtosis of SFA and

		SI	FA		DEA			
	All	Y ears	Groups	$Both^{1)}$	All	Y ears	Groups	Both
Mean	82.8	81.1	87.3	87.8	13.0	46.5	76.3	85.1
Maximum	99.4	99.8	99.7	99.9	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Minimum	3.0	5.1	3.5	4.7	0.5	1.6	0.6	1.6
Standard deviation	9.0	10.4	9.8	9.5	17.7	20.0	16.9	11.8
Skewness	-2.19	-1.32	-2.90	-2.91	2.39	0.18	-2.37	-2.30
Kurtosis	11.77	6.51	14.90	15.42	9.08	2.95	9.97	11.53
N	$34,\!192$	$34,\!192$	$34,\!192$	$33,\!213$	$34,\!192$	$34,\!192$	$34,\!192$	$34,\!192$

#### Table 3: Cost efficiency according to SFA and DEA

Notes: <sup>1)</sup> Excluding central cooperative and savings banks due to too low degrees of freedom.

DEA efficiency. Consider, for example, efficiency based on the full sample pooled across years and groups, which marks the standard approach in most studies.

The standard deviation of DEA scores is almost twice as high as that of SFA. This already suggests that failure to control for systematic differences yields fundamentally different scores between the two methods. Perhaps even more importantly, the skew indicates that both methodologies locate the mass of banks on virtually opposite ends of the efficiency distribution. In fact, under DEA almost 80% of banks exhibit efficiency below 30%. In contrast, the SFA identifies around 80% of banks enjoying efficiency in excess of 80%. The latter means that banks are, first, relatively close to one another in terms of efficiency levels and, second, closer to full efficiency than to full inefficiency.

Since true inefficiency remains unobservable it is not possible to validate, which of the two methods is the correct one. However, it is interesting to note that not only first moments are affected by the use of alternative samples. Table 3 shows that while the choice of increasingly homogenous samples does not affect the dispersion of SFA scores to a great extent, the standard deviation of DEA efficiency scores is approximately halved when using the most detailed sample of annual group-specific frontiers. Consequently, DEA may simply suffer from limitations to find appropriate reference units for a diverse group of DMUs and thus projects the mass of banks onto a frontier that is constituted by only few extreme performers. However, some extreme input-cost observations may simply be outliers solely due to measurement error. Since DEA neglects such random error, one obvious explanation for differences between DEA and SFA scores is the sensitivity of the former approach to such outliers.

This is because DEA envelopes the data. Implicitly, one supposes that all observed units belong to the attainable set. In the presence of superefficient outliers, envelop calculations can be different since they are very sensitive to extreme observations. There are many reasons why an observation might be atypical. An observation could be an outlier because it contains an error (bad coding, etc.), or because it presents features which are too different from the remainder of the data set to which it is compared. Detecting outliers is not an easy task for multivariate analysis (Simar, 2003). In addition, most of the standard geometrical methods for detecting outliers in multivariate set-ups do not take the frontier aspect of the problem into account (Wilson, 1993).

Here, we take the frontier problem into account and identify the outliers by

inspecting the DMUs which build the convex hull in DEA. In particular we search for atypical efficiency scores by year and by pillars in order to identify the subset of DMUs which may distort the frontier. We find that the the most extreme efficiency scores for the full sample are primarily attributable to commercial banks and to regional cooperative banks in the years 1995, 1996, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2003 and 2004. We drop banks when two criteria are fulfilled. First, they need to belong to the frontier. Second, they simultaneously constitute reference units for more than 1000 other banks. In all, we eliminate 24 observations from the data set and then recalculate the efficiency score with both the DEA and SFA methods. In table 4 we report the according results excluding outliers.

		SI	FA		DEA			
	All	Years	Groups	$Both^{1)}$	All	Years	Groups	Both
Mean	84.3	83.9	87.4	88.1	36.5	56.1	77.4	85.5
Maximum	98.3	99.7	99.2	99.9	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Minimum	53.2	51.7	25.2	20.3	1.2	1.7	1.2	1.7
Standard deviation	7.5	7.2	9.6	8.8	12.5	15.0	13.7	10.6
Skewness	-1.67	-0.72	-2.85	-2.58	2.16	0.59	-1.68	-1.76
Kurtosis	6.73	4.00	14.22	12.86	9.62	3.20	7.31	8.27
N	$34,\!168$	$34,\!168$	$33,\!973$	$33,\!197$	$34,\!168$	$34,\!168$	$34,\!168$	$34,\!168$

Table 4: Sensitivity of efficiency measures to outliers

Notes: <sup>1)</sup> Excluding central cooperative and savings banks due to too low degrees of freedom.

Bearing in mind that we merely excluded 24 observations out of approximately 34,000 from our sample, the reported improvement in DEA efficiency scores from 13.0% to 36.5% is remarkable. Our findings support earlier conclusions in the financial economics literature that nonparametric methods are sensitive to outliers. In turn, comparing results in tables 3 and 4 shows that SFA is much more stable since efficiency estimates are virtually unchanged.<sup>12</sup> Apparently, the presence of outliers is captured in SFA appropriately by the random term as confirmed by the results. Summarizing, the effect of removing even a small number of outliers has a strong influence on DEA efficiency scores and a very limited one for SFA. We conclude therefore that accounting for random noise or for outliers in bank efficiency analyses is important even when using comparably high quality data. Henceforth, we report results that exclude the above identified outliers.

#### 5.2 Efficiency Rankings

Although efficiency levels differ between techniques, it is still possible that these methods generate similar rankings of banks. The identification of which financial institutions are more efficient than others is usually more important for regulatory policy decisions than the absolute measure of efficiency levels. Indeed, Bauer et al. (1998) note that if methods do not rank institutions similarly, then policy conclusions may be fragile and depend on which frontier approach is employed. Table 5 depicts Spearman rank-order correlation coefficients across methodologies and samples.

 $<sup>^{12} \</sup>rm Since$  total error is reduced by the exclusion of outliers SFA efficiency scores also improve, however, by only a mere 1.5% in the most sensitive pooled sample.

		S	SFA		DEA			
	All	Y ears	Groups	$Both^{1)}$	All	Y ears	Groups	
SFA Year	73.9	100.0						
SFA Group	78.8	57.2	100.0					
<b>SFA</b> Both	74.0	56.1	92.4	100.0				
DEA All	18.8	10.4	22.7	28.5	100.0			
<b>DEA</b> Years	13.5	16.9	19.3	25.0	70.7	100.0		
<b>DEA</b> Groups	20.3	12.3	44.3	47.6	64.4	59.4	100.0	
<b>DEA</b> Both	28.0	14.5	43.3	46.7	62.1	52.8	83.5	

Table 5: The stability of ranks across methods

Notes: All correlation coefficients are significant at the 1% level. <sup>1)</sup> Excluding central cooperative and savings banks due to too low degrees of freedom.

Within each family of benchmarking methods, rankings are fairly consistent. Rank-order correlations measured as Spearman's  $\rho$  are positive, high and significant at the 1% level. Note, however, that correlations are on average higher for SFA (74%) compared to DEA (50%). Hence, even after the elimination of potential selfidentifiers in nonparametric methods, the gradual move towards more akin peers compared in the analysis still yields different rankings of banks.

More importantly, our results point out that across DEA and SFA rankings differ considerably. The average rank order correlation between SFA and DEA, shown in the lower left panel of table 5, is only around 20%. An interesting result is that the rank correlation improves as long as DEA is used for more homogenous sample: The correlation between both measures obtained from banking-group specific samples, both pooled and annually, and the respective two parametric methods is on average 45%. Thus DEA and SFA can be relied upon to generally rank the banks in the same order only for relative homogeneous samples. This seems to be a drawback of DEA, since the standard non-parametrical methods are not able to account for heterogeneity and interpret difference between banks only as inefficiency. Interestingly, table 5 also allows to infer for the relative importance of group effects versus time effects for the two methods when passing from the fully pooled sample to the stratified subsamples. While for SFA, the time effect is somewhat more pronounced than the group effect (reducing correlation from 100,0% to 74,0% instead of 78,8%), for DEA the group effect is especially severe when compared to the time effect (correlation reduces to 64,4% resp. 70,7%).

#### 5.3 Identification of Extreme Performers

Even if the methods do not always rank the banks similarly, they may still be useful for regulatory purposes if they are consistent in identifying which are the most and least efficient institutions. Table 6 shows the correspondence of identified extreme performers across methodologies.

The lower left triangle of the matrix in table 6 reports for each pair of frontier efficiency techniques the proportion of banks that are identified simultaneously by both techniques to exhibit efficiency scores in the lowest quarter. For example, of the banks identified in the bottom 25% by DEA in the pooled sample, 22.37% are

Table 6:	Best	and	worst	performing	banks

		$\mathbf{S}$	FA		$\mathbf{DEA}$			
	All	Y ears	Groups	Both	All	Y ears	Groups	Both
SFA All		80.62	83.01	78.62	28.34	20.52	24.58	25.68
SFA Year	44.41		73.88	71.2	22.57	22.81	21.24	19.92
SFA Group	63.45	37.23		88.76	28.46	21.44	35.54	32.87
<b>SFA</b> Both	59.4	38.77	75.91		29.61	23.13	34.54	33.25
DEA All	22.37	22.94	18.83	16.21		53.33	52.82	43.44
<b>DEA</b> Years	21.6	21	18.39	16.59	39.43		49.4	40.77
<b>DEA</b> Groups	19.97	20.99	14.22	12.16	37.6	30.92		60.97
<b>DEA</b> Both	17.74	18.68	14.16	12.73	41.42	29.09	57.5	

Notes: Upper right triangle denote the top 25% performers;

Lower left triangle denotes the bottom 25% performers.

also identified to be in the bottom quarter by SFA. Random chance alone would yield an expected value of 25% correspondence, while perfect correspondence gives a 100% level. Hence, a value of 22.37% indicates little consistency. While slightly better, the correspondence between DEA and SFA to identify top performers in the upper right triangle is again somewhat vague. Only after controlling for banking groups or both strata at the same time, both methods overlap in more than 25% of the cases in their identifications of top performers - clearly not very comfortable.

Within each class, this correspondence is higher compared to random sampling, but it is still far from perfect. Thus, different identifications of extreme performers are already subject to care within one methodology. The correspondence between DEA samples only is on average 50.12% for the best and 39.32% for the worst. In turn, the correspondence between SFA samples is 79.34% for the best and 56.08% for the worst.

In sum, the average correspondence between DEA and SFA to identify worst and best practice banks is 18.03% and 26.53%, respectively. Thus, the two methodologies do not identify extreme performers consistently. Given the higher with-in class stability of parametric methods, the latter may be taken as somewhat more reliable for policy-making purposes.

#### 5.4 Stability Over Time

To be useful for regulatory policy purposes, efficiency measures should be stable over time. Just as the banking landscape in Europe is changing gradually, we expect that the efficiency rankings of banks do not exhibit large changes in the short run. In table 7 we therefore examine the year-to-year stability of DEA and SFA efficiency scores over time. We calculate for each method and sample rank order correlations between each pair of years.<sup>13</sup> Correlations are positive and significant at the 1% level in all cases. We summarize in table 7 the average correlations by the number of years apart.<sup>14</sup>

First, we find that efficiency rankings are more stable over time according to DEA but both methods yield consistently declining correlations over time. Since banking

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>For example, for the full sample we compute rank-order correlations between efficiency in each year i between 1993 and 2003, and the full sample in each year j, j=1994,...,2004, with j>i. This

Table 7: Stability of efficiency over time

			J				-				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	$\gamma$	8	9	10	11
SFA All	87.1	80.8	76.1	72.0	68.6	65.3	62.9	61.1	59.1	56.6	55.2
SFA Year	67.0	60.0	54.8	49.6	50.8	54.6	53.1	49.0	41.9	32.3	24.5
SFA Group	88.0	82.2	77.6	73.6	70.3	66.9	63.8	61.8	58.9	55.5	52.2
<b>SFA</b> Both	85.9	79.5	74.6	70.3	67.2	64.0	60.7	58.4	57.1	55.7	54.5
DEA All	96.7	94.1	91.3	88.5	85.8	83.1	80.6	78.1	76.0	74.2	72.6
<b>DEA</b> Years	83.7	80.5	78.2	71.8	70.8	65.9	65.8	62.3	58.6	58.2	47.4
<b>DEA</b> Groups	94.7	91.9	89.2	86.4	84.0	81.5	79.2	76.9	75.3	74.2	73.8
<b>DEA</b> Both	87.1	81.5	76.5	71.9	69.2	63.2	60.9	58.6	56.9	55.9	49.0

Number of years between rankings

All correlation coefficients are significant at the 1% level.

markets are competitive and dynamic environments, relative changes of efficiency rankings over time are reasonable, for example due to changing competitiveness. Note, however, that even after up to twelve 12 years later rankings are still quite highly correlated with initial ranks. Consequently, relative re-positioning in the banking industry regarding efficiency neither appears to occur quickly nor to a large extent.

Second, especially in the longer run a part of this trend may actually reflect different degrees of technical change across the various banking groups. Potentially, larger banks that are more exposed to international competition are more successful in adopting new technologies and products compared to regionally active banks. Obviously, such a conclusion requires more detailed analysis of technical change per bank and banking group over time and should be subject to future research.

Third, note that for both SFA and DEA rank instability is largest for annual samples. This result is most obvious when considering SFA efficiency measures with an interval of 11 years. Then, average rank-order correlations are only around 25%. This reinforces our previous statement about the time effect of SFA. The considerable gap to the other samples may be related to the commonplace assumption in the literature that bank production and cost are independent over time. In fact, non-parametric methods treat any observation in the data as independent by construction unless one specifies an explicit additional constraint in the linear programming set-up.<sup>15</sup> For DEA this result may therefore merely underpin a point made by Coelli et al. (1997): comparing efficiency measures measured relative to different (yearly) frontiers is subject to reservation. In the context of SFA, this result may in turn highlight the necessity to allow bank production choices to be autocorrelated or to follow a trend over time. Put differently, the ability of parametric methods to exploit the panel structure of micro-data with according estimators deserves attention for more than just technical reasons, but this succeeds the aim of our research.

In sum, rank stability over time is fairly high and statistically significant both

process was then repeated for the other 7 designs.

 $<sup>^{14}\</sup>mathrm{Each}$  number in the first column, for example, depicts mean correlation of efficiency in 1993 with 1994, 1994 with 1995,...,2003 with 2004, an average of 11 correlations in all. In general, the t-year apart figures are averages of 12 - t correlations between efficiencies that are t years away from each other.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>But, of course, an approach to constrain, say, relative future efficiency scores to always be smaller, equal or larger lacks any economic sensibility and is thus simply not feasible.

for DEA and, to a lesser extent, SFA. This result is especially strong in the short run and indicates a high consistency between methods. As for the other checks, the difference between DEA and SFA decrease with more homogenous samples.

#### 5.5 Efficiency and Accounting-based Performance Measures

On the one hand, one may argue that efficiency measures should be positively correlated with alternative measures of performance commonly used by regulators and financial managers. On the other hand, the former are not necessarily based on microeconomic theory and are mostly directly based on accounting information. For example, high cost-income ratios may indicate poor cost management skills. However, they may just as well indicate that banking markets are highly competitive and, thus, marginal revenues are close to marginal cost.

Put differently, it is possible that efficiency scores contain additional information about performance compared to traditional measures. Therefore, we do not expect perfect correlation as the accounting ratios of performance do not consider input prices and output mix and ignore the market value of the bank (Berger and Humphrey, 1991). But if efficiency scores can indeed help to improve the performance evaluation of financial institutions we would expect the former to be at least significantly correlated with other performance indicators. Moreover, measures are more consistent if they indicate similar conclusions for policy-making purposes. Therefore, efficiency scores that are positively correlated with traditional measures may be regarded more informative than those that do not.

In table 8 we report correlation coefficients between both DEA and SFA efficiency scores and four non-frontier measures of performance. We chose two indicators of return performance as well as of cost performance of banks: return on assets (ROA) and return on equity (ROE); the negative of total operating cost to total assets (-TC/TA) and the negative of total cost to total revenue (-TC/TR). The negative signs are placed on the last two ratios so that all performance indicators should be positively correlated with efficiency scores.

		$\mathbf{S}$	FA		DEA				
	All		Groups		All	Y ears	Groups	Both	
ROE	12.7	11.0	21.1	19.8	6.6	15.0	21.8	16.6	
ROA	10.5	9.3	11.9	11.6	2.4	7.2	9.0	10.4	
$\mathbf{TC}/\mathbf{TA}$	31.6	14.3	40.4	33.7	11.7	7.4	30.1	30.9	
TC/TR	21.0	14.3	26.1	23.9	5.7	8.0	19.8	19.6	

Table 8: Consistency with standard performance measures

All correlation coefficients are significant at the 1% level.

The results in table 8 suggest that neither parametric nor non-parametric efficiency measures are highly correlated with traditional performance measures. The low magnitude is in line with those reported by Bauer et al. (1998) and Koetter (2006) and confirm that efficiency measures contain additional information compared to traditional performance ratios. A popular empiricism is to cite return-onasset or return-on-equity to compare the effectiveness of financial systems <sup>16</sup>. As the results prove, return indicators do not account for the efficiency characteristics of banks. Note that the consistency between cost efficiency and cost-related accounting measures is substantially higher compared to the relation to return oriented performance measures, such as ROE and ROA. Apparently, the ability to generate profits is captured by neither cost efficiency method well.<sup>17</sup> Since we are here mostly interested in the comparison between parametric and nonparametric methods, it is noteworthy that the similarity of information conveyed by SFA efficiency measures is by and large somewhat higher compared to that obtained with DEA. Moreover, the distinction in samples according to banking groups rather than years appears to explain much of the difference in performance rankings between traditional measures and cost efficiency. This is in line with results on mean efficiency in table 4. We conclude that especially the ability to control for systematic differences between different types of banks is important.

### 6 Conclusion

In this study we investigate the consistency of cost efficiency measures derived with two different methodologies: Stochastic Frontier Analysis (SFA) and Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA). To this end, we use an identical data set of universal banks in Germany reported to the Bundesbank between 1993 and 2004. We assess the sensitivity of SFA and DEA efficiency measures when the respective frontiers are based on an increasingly homogenous sample in terms of years and banking groups included.

Our main conclusions from the analysis of five consistency criteria are as follows. Mean cost efficiency levels are substantially higher according to SFA compared to those obtained with DEA. We identify two major reasons for this observations. First, since DEA uses a deterministic frontier to benchmark banks, the method is substantially more sensitive to the choice of banks included in the sample. When assessing the relative performance of Germany's fragmented three pillar system, higher heterogeneity in the data results in low mean efficiency because other factors influencing cost efficiency are not accounted for. We quantify the sensitivity of mean industry efficiency levels by constructing increasingly homogenous samples across years and banking groups and find in fact that SFA and DEA measures are very alike when comparing only banks of one group per year, respectively. Second, the parametric nature of SFA is found to be substantially less sensitive to outliers due to measurement error. While the exclusion of less than one percent of banks from the sample leads to an improvement in DEA scores of around 20 percentage points in terms of efficiency, SFA scores change only by 2 percentage points. Hence, if researchers have reason to believe that measurement error prevails, DEA should be used with care.

The analysis of efficiency rankings across methodologies and samples shows only limited evidence that both methods rank banks similarly. Only for the most re-

 $<sup>^{16}({\</sup>rm White},\,1998)$  uses measures on return to show the superiority of Anglo financial system over continental ones.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>This motivates to also consider profit efficiency in future studies as in Altunbas et al. (2001).

strictive samples per group and year, both measures exhibit rank-order correlations of around 44%. The limited extent to which the two methods identify the same institutes as best and worst performers is confirmed by comparing the overlap of the top and bottom  $25^{th}$  efficiency percentile for each method and sample, respectively. Across all sample stratifications investigated here, the share of banks identified simultaneously as best and worst performers according to both methods is very low. We conclude that efficiency measures are only consistent if particular fractions of the banking market are analyzed. In turn, if the research interest is to benchmark the efficiency of a whole banking system the opportunity of SFA to account for random error and other non-random influences appears to render more stable efficiency information.

With respect to the stability of both methods over time we find despite ongoing changes in the industry during the last decade, such as consolidation and increasing competition, that both methods yield consistent rankings over time. In terms of cost efficiency, banks appear to perform equally good or bad in the course of time. The persistence of efficiency is markedly higher when measured with DEA compared to SFA, especially in the longer run. At the same time, both methods yield, in part, substantially lower time stability of rankings when using only yearly samples. Hence, efficiency methodologies like SFA, which are able to account for changes over time, are of particular importance beyond sheer technical reasons.

Regarding the relation of efficiency and traditionally employed accounting based measures, we conclude that either method yields efficiency measures that contain additional information. While positive correlations indicate that higher returns and lower costs move in lock-step with higher efficiency, low magnitudes indicate to us that accounting based measures do not fully capture alternative drivers of success and failure, such as market power or economic value maximization.

In sum, this study extends earlier findings for the US and sub-samples of other banking markets in Europe, which report differences between parametric and nonparametric efficiency scores. These differences apply also to other stability criteria and they are amplified when assessing the efficiency of an entire and large banking industry. It appears to be of crucial importance to control for heterogeneity over banking groups and time as well as for random noise and outliers.

## References

- Aigner, D. J., C. A. K. Lovell, and P. Schmidt (1977). Formulation and Estimation of Stochastic Frontier Function Models. *Journal of Econometrics* 6, 21–37.
- Allen, L. and A. Rai (1996). Operational Efficiency in Banking: An International Comparison. Journal of Banking and Finance 20, 655–672.
- Altunbas, Y., L. Evans, and P. Molyneux (2001). Bank Ownership and Efficiency. Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking 33, 926–954.
- Amel, D., C. Barnes, F. Panetta, and C. Salleo (2004). Consolidation and Efficiency in the Financial Sector: A Review of the International Evidence. *Journal of Banking & Finance 28*, 2493–2519.
- Banker, R. D., A. Charnes, and W. W. Cooper (1984). Some Model for Estimating Technical and Scale Inefficiencies in Data Envelopment Analysis. *Managment Science* 30, 1078–1092.
- Battese, G. and G. Corra (1977). Estimation of a Production Frontier Model: With Application to the Pastoral Zone of Eastern Australia. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Economics* 21, 169–179.
- Bauer, P. W., A. N. Berger, G. D. Ferrier, and D. B. Humphrey (1998). Consistency Conditions for Regulatory Analysis of Financial Institutions: A Comparison of Frontier Efficiency Methods. *Journal of Economics and Business* 50, 85–114.
- Bauer, P. W., A. N. Berger, and D. B. Humphrey (1993). Efficiency and Productivity Growth in U.S. Banking. In H. Fried, C. A. K. Lovell, and P. Schmidt (Eds.), *The Measurement of Productive Efficiency : Techniques and Applications*, pp. 386–413. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Beattie, B. and C. Taylor (1985). The Economics of Production. New York: Wiley.
- Beccalli, E., B. Casu, and G. C. (2006). Efficiency and Stock Performance in European Banking. *The Journal of Business, Finance and Accounting* 33, 218–235.
- Berger, A. L. and T. Hannan (1998). The Efficiency Cost of Market Power in the Banking Industry: A Test of the Quite Life and related Hypothesis. *Review of Economics and Statistic 80*, 454–465.
- Berger, A. N. (1993). Distribution Free Estimates of Efficiency in the U.S. Banking Industry and Tests of the Standard Distributional Assumptions. *Journal of Productivity Analysis* 4, 261–292.
- Berger, A. N. and D. B. Humphrey (1991). The Dominance of Inefficiency over Scale Product Mix Economics in Banking. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 28, 117–148.
- Berger, A. N. and L. J. Mester (1997). Inside the Black Box: What explanis Differences in the Efficiency of Financial Institutions. *Journal of Banking & Finance 21*, 895–947.

- Bos, J. W. B., F. Heid, J. W. Kolari, M. Koetter, and C. J. M. Kool (2005). Inefficient or just Different? Effects of Heterogeneity on Bank Efficiency Scores. *Deutsche Bundesbank Discussion Paper Series 2: Banking and Financial Studies*.
- Casu, B. and C. Girardone (2002). A Comparative Study of the Cost Efficiency of Italian Bank Conglomerates. *Managerial Finance* 28, 3–23.
- Charnes, A., W. W. Cooper, and E. Rhodes (1978). Measuring the Efficiency of Decision Making Units. *European Journal of Operational Research* 2, 429–444.
- Coelli, T., D. S. Prasada Rao, and G. E. Battese (1997). An Introduction to Efficiency and Productivity Analysis. Boston: Springer.
- Cooper, W. W., L. M. Seiford, and K. Tone (2000). Data Envelopment Analysis: A Comprehensive Text with Models, Applications, References and DEA-Solver Software. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- ECB (2005). EU Banking Structures. Frankfurt a.M.: European Central Bank.
- Farrell, M. J. (1957). The Measurement of Productive Efficiency. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, 253–290.
- Ferrier, G. D. and C. A. K. Lovell (1990). Measuring Cost Efficiency in Banking: Econometric and Linear Programming Evidence. *Journal of Econometrics* 46, 229–245.
- Hackethal, A. (2004). German banks and banking structure. In J. Krahnen and R. Schmidt (Eds.), *The German Financial System*, pp. 387–424. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hasan, I. and W. C. Hunter (1996). Efficiency of Japanese Multinational Banks in the United States. *Research in Finance* 14, 157–173.
- Jondrow, J., C. Lovell, I. S. Materov, and P. Schmidt (1982). Technical Inefficiency in the Stochastic Frontier Production Function Model. *Journal of Econometrics* 19, 233–238.
- Koetter, M. (2006). Measurement Matters Alternative Input Price Proxies for Bank Efficiency Analyses. *Journal of Financial Services Research, forthcoming*.
- Lang, G. and P. Welzel (1996). Efficiency and Technical Progress in Banking: Empirical Results for a Panel of German Cooperative Banks. *Journal of Banking & Finance 20*, 1003–23.
- Meeusen, W. and J. Van den Broek (1977). Efficiency Estimation from Cobb-Douglas Production Functions with Composite Errors. International Economic Review 18, 435–44.
- OECD (2000). Mergers in Financial Services. Paris: OECD.
- Resti, A. (1997). Evaluating the Cost Efficiency of the Italian Banking System: What can be learned from the Joint Application of Parametric and Nonparametric Techniques. *Journal of Banking & Finance 21*, 221–250.

- Sealey, C. W. and J. T. Lindley (1977). Inputs, Outputs, and a Theory of Production and Cost and Depository Financial Institutions. *The Journal of Finance 32*, 1251– 1265.
- Sheldon, G. (1994). Economies, Inefficiencies and technical progress in Swiss Banking. In D. Fair and R. Raymond (Eds.), *The Competitiveness of Financial Institutions and Centers in Europe*, pp. 115–133. Kluwer.
- Simar, L. (2003). Detecting Outliers in Frontiers Models: A Simple Approach. Journal of Productivity Analysis 20, 391–424.
- Weill, L. (2004). Measuring Cost Efficiency in European Banking: A Comparison of Frontier Techniques. *Journal of Productivity Analysis 21*, 133–152.
- White, R. W. (1998). The Coming Transformation of Continental European Banking? Bank of International Settlement Working Paper 54.
- Wilson, P. W. (1993). Detecting Outliers in Deterministic Non-Parametric Frontier Models with Multiple Output. Journal of Business and Economics Statistic 11, 319–323.

# The following Discussion Papers have been published since 2005:

### Series 1: Economic Studies

1	2005	Financial constraints and capacity adjustment	
		in the United Kingdom – Evidence from a	Ulf von Kalckreuth
2	2005	large panel of survey data Common stationary and non-stationary	Emma Murphy
Z	2003		
		factors in the euro area analyzed in a large-scale factor model	Sandra Eickmeier
		large-scale factor model	Sandra Elekinelei
3	2005	Financial intermediaries, markets,	F. Fecht, K. Huang,
		and growth	A. Martin
4	2005	The New Keynesian Phillips Curve	
		in Europe: does it fit or does it fail?	Peter Tillmann
5	2005	Taxes and the financial structure	Fred Ramb
		of German inward FDI	A. J. Weichenrieder
6	2005	International diversification at home	Fang Cai
0	2003	and abroad	Francis E. Warnock
			Trancis E. Warnock
7	2005	Multinational enterprises, international trade,	
		and productivity growth: Firm-level evidence	Wolfgang Keller
		from the United States	Steven R. Yeaple
8	2005	Location choice and employment	S. O. Becker,
		decisions: a comparison of German	K. Ekholm, R. Jäckle,
		and Swedish multinationals	MA. Muendler
9	2005	Business cycles and FDI:	Claudia M. Buch
9	2003	evidence from German sectoral data	
		CVINCIE II IIII OCIIIIAII SECIOIAI NALA	Alexander Lipponer
10	2005	Multinational firms, exclusivity,	Ping Lin
		and the degree of backward linkages	Kamal Saggi

11	2005	Firm-level evidence on international stock market comovement	Robin Brooks Marco Del Negro
12	2005	The determinants of intra-firm trade: in search for export-import magnification effects	Peter Egger Michael Pfaffermayr
13	2005	Foreign direct investment, spillovers and absorptive capacity: evidence from quantile regressions	Sourafel Girma Holger Görg
14	2005	Learning on the quick and cheap: gains from trade through imported expertise	James R. Markusen Thomas F. Rutherford
15	2005	Discriminatory auctions with seller discretion: evidence from German treasury auctions	Jörg Rocholl
16	2005	Consumption, wealth and business cycles: why is Germany different?	B. Hamburg, M. Hoffmann, J. Keller
17	2005	Tax incentives and the location of FDI: evidence from a panel of German multinationals	Thiess Buettner Martin Ruf
18	2005	Monetary Disequilibria and the Euro/Dollar Exchange Rate	Dieter Nautz Karsten Ruth
19	2005	Berechnung trendbereinigter Indikatoren für Deutschland mit Hilfe von Filterverfahren	Stefan Stamfort
20	2005	How synchronized are central and east European economies with the euro area? Evidence from a structural factor model	Sandra Eickmeier Jörg Breitung
21	2005	Asymptotic distribution of linear unbiased estimators in the presence of heavy-tailed stochastic regressors and residuals	JR. Kurz-Kim S.T. Rachev G. Samorodnitsky

22	2005	The Role of Contracting Schemes for the Welfare Costs of Nominal Rigidities over the Business Cycle	Matthias Paustian
23	2005	The cross-sectional dynamics of German business cycles: a bird's eye view	J. Döpke, M. Funke S. Holly, S. Weber
24	2005	Forecasting German GDP using alternative factor models based on large datasets	Christian Schumacher
25	2005	Time-dependent or state-dependent price setting? – micro-evidence from German metal-working industries –	Harald Stahl
26	2005	Money demand and macroeconomic uncertainty	Claus Greiber Wolfgang Lemke
27	2005	In search of distress risk	J. Y. Campbell, J. Hilscher, J. Szilagyi
28	2005	Recursive robust estimation and control without commitment	Lars Peter Hansen Thomas J. Sargent
29	2005	Asset pricing implications of Pareto optimality with private information	N. R. Kocherlakota Luigi Pistaferri
30	2005	Ultra high frequency volatility estimation with dependent microstructure noise	Y. Aït-Sahalia, P. A. Mykland, L. Zhang
31	2005	Umstellung der deutschen VGR auf Vorjahres- preisbasis – Konzept und Konsequenzen für die aktuelle Wirtschaftsanalyse sowie die ökono- metrische Modellierung	Karl-Heinz Tödter

32	2005	Determinants of current account developments in the central and east European EU member states – consequences for the enlargement of the euro erea	Sabine Herrmann Axel Jochem
33	2005	An estimated DSGE model for the German economy within the euro area	Ernest Pytlarczyk
34	2005	Rational inattention: a research agenda	Christopher A. Sims
35	2005	Monetary policy with model uncertainty: distribution forecast targeting	Lars E.O. Svensson Noah Williams
36	2005	Comparing the value revelance of R&D report- ing in Germany: standard and selection effects	
37	2005	European inflation expectations dynamics	J. Döpke, J. Dovern U. Fritsche, J. Slacalek
38	2005	Dynamic factor models	Sandra Eickmeier Jörg Breitung
39	2005	Short-run and long-run comovement of GDP and some expenditure aggregates in Germany, France and Italy	Thomas A. Knetsch
40	2005	A"wreckers theory" of financial distress	Ulf von Kalckreuth
41	2005	Trade balances of the central and east European EU member states and the role of foreign direct investment	Sabine Herrmann Axel Jochem
42	2005	Unit roots and cointegration in panels	Jörg Breitung M. Hashem Pesaran
43	2005	Price setting in German manufacturing: new evidence from new survey data	Harald Stahl

1	2006	The dynamic relationship between the Euro overnight rate, the ECB's policy rate and the term spread	Dieter Nautz Christian J. Offermanns
2	2006	Sticky prices in the euro area: a summary of new micro evidence	Álvarez, Dhyne, Hoeberichts Kwapil, Le Bihan, Lünnemann Martins, Sabbatini, Stahl Vermeulen, Vilmunen
3	2006	Going multinational: What are the effects on home market performance?	Robert Jäckle
4	2006	Exports versus FDI in German manufacturing: firm performance and participation in inter- national markets	Jens Matthias Arnold Katrin Hussinger
5	2006	A disaggregated framework for the analysis of structural developments in public finances	Kremer, Braz, Brosens Langenus, Momigliano Spolander
6	2006	Bond pricing when the short term interest rate follows a threshold process	Wolfgang Lemke Theofanis Archontakis
7	2006	Has the impact of key determinants of German exports changed? Results from estimations of Germany's intra euro-area and extra euro-area exports	Kerstin Stahn
8	2006	The coordination channel of foreign exchange intervention: a nonlinear microstructural analysis	Stefan Reitz Mark P. Taylor
9	2006	Capital, labour and productivity: What role do they play in the potential GDP weakness of France, Germany and Italy?	Antonio Bassanetti Jörg Döpke, Roberto Torrini Roberta Zizza
10	2006	Real-time macroeconomic data and ex ante predictability of stock returns	J. Döpke, D. Hartmann C. Pierdzioch

11	2006	The role of real wage rigidity and labor market frictions for unemployment and inflation dynamics	Kai Christoffel Tobias Linzert
12	2006	Forecasting the price of crude oil via convenience yield predictions	Thomas A. Knetsch
13	2006	Foreign direct investment in the enlarged EU: do taxes matter and to what extent?	Guntram B. Wolff
14	2006	Inflation and relative price variability in the euro area: evidence from a panel threshold model	Dieter Nautz Juliane Scharff
15	2006	Internalization and internationalization under competing real options	Jan Hendrik Fisch
16	2006	Consumer price adjustment under the microscope: Germany in a period of low inflation	Johannes Hoffmann Jeong-Ryeol Kurz-Kim
17	2006	Identifying the role of labor markets for monetary policy in an estimated DSGE model	Kai Christoffel Keith Küster Tobias Linzert
18	2006	Do monetary indicators (still) predict euro area inflation?	Boris Hofmann
19	2006	Fool the markets? Creative accounting, fiscal transparency and sovereign risk premia	Kerstin Bernoth Guntram B. Wolff
20	2006	How would formula apportionment in the EU affect the distribution and the size of the corporate tax base? An analysis based on German multinationals	Clemens Fuest Thomas Hemmelgarn Fred Ramb

21	2006	Monetary and fiscal policy interactions in a New Keynesian model with capital accumulation and non-Ricardian consumers	Campbell Leith Leopold von Thadden
22	2006	Real-time forecasting and political stock market anomalies: evidence for the U.S.	Martin Bohl, Jörg Döpke Christian Pierdzioch
23	2006	A reappraisal of the evidence on PPP: a systematic investigation into MA roots in panel unit root tests and their implications	Christoph Fischer Daniel Porath
24	2006	Margins of multinational labor substitution	Sascha O. Becker Marc-Andreas Mündler
25	2006	Forecasting with panel data	Badi H. Baltagi
26	2006	Do actions speak louder than words? Household expectations of inflation based on micro consumption data	Atsushi Inoue Lutz Kilian Fatma Burcu Kiraz
27	2006	Learning, structural instability and present value calculations	H. Pesaran, D. Pettenuzzo A. Timmermann
28	2006	Empirical Bayesian density forecasting in Iowa and shrinkage for the Monte Carlo era	Kurt F. Lewis Charles H. Whiteman
29	2006	The within-distribution business cycle dynamics of German firms	Jörg Döpke Sebastian Weber
30	2006	Dependence on external finance: an inherent industry characteristic?	George M. von Furstenberg Ulf von Kalckreuth
31	2006	Comovements and heterogeneity in the euro area analyzed in a non-stationary dynamic factor model	Sandra Eickmeier

32	2006	Forecasting using a large number of predictors: is Bayesian regression a valid alternative to	Christine De Mol Domenico Giannone
		principal components?	Lucrezia Reichlin
33	2006	Real-time forecasting of GDP based on	
		a large factor model with monthly and	Christian Schumacher
		quarterly data	Jörg Breitung
34	2006	Macroeconomic fluctuations and bank lending:	S. Eickmeier
		evidence for Germany and the euro area	B. Hofmann, A. Worms
35	2006	Fiscal institutions, fiscal policy and	Mark Hallerberg Guntram B. Wolff
		sovereign risk premia	Guilliani D. Wolli

# Series 2: Banking and Financial Studies

1	2005	Measurement matters – Input price proxies and bank efficiency in Germany	Michael Koetter
2	2005	The supervisor's portfolio: the market price risk of German banks from 2001 to 2003 – Analysis and models for risk aggregation	Christoph Memmel Carsten Wehn
3	2005	Do banks diversify loan portfolios? A tentative answer based on individual bank loan portfolios	Andreas Kamp Andreas Pfingsten Daniel Porath
4	2005	Banks, markets, and efficiency	F. Fecht, A. Martin
5	2005	The forecast ability of risk-neutral densities of foreign exchange	Ben Craig Joachim Keller
6	2005	Cyclical implications of minimum capital requirements	Frank Heid
7	2005	Banks' regulatory capital buffer and the business cycle: evidence for German savings and cooperative banks	Stéphanie Stolz Michael Wedow
8	2005	German bank lending to industrial and non- industrial countries: driven by fundamentals or different treatment?	Thorsten Nestmann
9	2005	Accounting for distress in bank mergers	M. Koetter, J. Bos, F. Heid C. Kool, J. Kolari, D. Porath
10	2005	The eurosystem money market auctions: a banking perspective	Nikolaus Bartzsch Ben Craig, Falko Fecht
11	2005	Financial integration and systemic risk	Falko Fecht Hans Peter Grüner

12	2005	Evaluating the German bank merger wave	Michael Koetter
13	2005	Incorporating prediction and estimation risk in point-in-time credit portfolio models	A. Hamerle, M. Knapp, T. Liebig, N. Wildenauer
14	2005	Time series properties of a rating system based on financial ratios	U. Krüger, M. Stötzel, S. Trück
15	2005	Inefficient or just different? Effects of heterogeneity on bank efficiency scores	J. Bos, F. Heid, M. Koetter, J. Kolatri, C. Kool
01	2006	Forecasting stock market volatility with macroeconomic variables in real time	J. Döpke, D. Hartmann C. Pierdzioch
02	2006	Finance and growth in a bank-based economy: is it quantity or quality that matters?	Michael Koetter Michael Wedow
03	2006	Measuring business sector concentration by an infection model	Klaus Düllmann
04	2006	Heterogeneity in lending and sectoral growth: evidence from German bank-level data	Claudia M. Buch Andrea Schertler Natalja von Westernhagen
05	2006	Does diversification improve the performance of German banks? Evidence from individual bank loan portfolios	Evelyn Hayden Daniel Porath Natalja von Westernhagen
06	2006	Banks' regulatory buffers, liquidity networks and monetary policy transmission	Christian Merkl Stéphanie Stolz
07	2006	Empirical risk analysis of pension insurance – the case of Germany	W. Gerke, F. Mager T. Reinschmidt C. Schmieder

08	2006	The stability of efficiency rankings when		
		risk-preferences and objectives are different	Michael Koetter	
09	2006	Sector concentration in loan portfolios	Klaus Düllmann	
		and economic capital	Nancy Masschelein	
10	2006	The cost efficiency of German banks:	E. Fiorentino	
		a comparison of SFA and DEA	A. Karmann, M. Koetter	

### Visiting researcher at the Deutsche Bundesbank

The Deutsche Bundesbank in Frankfurt is looking for a visiting researcher. Among others under certain conditions visiting researchers have access to a wide range of data in the Bundesbank. They include micro data on firms and banks not available in the public. Visitors should prepare a research project during their stay at the Bundesbank. Candidates must hold a Ph D and be engaged in the field of either macroeconomics and monetary economics, financial markets or international economics. Proposed research projects should be from these fields. The visiting term will be from 3 to 6 months. Salary is commensurate with experience.

Applicants are requested to send a CV, copies of recent papers, letters of reference and a proposal for a research project to:

Deutsche Bundesbank Personalabteilung Wilhelm-Epstein-Str. 14

D - 60431 Frankfurt GERMANY